#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CECIL R. BEN, **APPELLANT** 

JUL 1 4 2010 OFFICE CAP LINE CLERK

VS.

SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2009-CA-01495-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI, **APPELLEE** 

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LEAKE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED** 

JULIE ANN EPPS; MSB

504 E. Peace Street

Canton, Mississippi 39046 Telephone:

Facsimile:

(601) 407-1410 (601) 407-1435

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT OR ALTERNATIVELY, THE JURY VERDICT IS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.
- 2. BEN WAS DENIED A SPEEDY TRIAL.
- 3. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING NUMEROUS OUT OF COURT STATEMENTS OF THE ALLEGED VICTIM AND IN ADMITTING NURSE HOCKETT'S OPINION THAT MEGAN WAS TELLING THE TRUTH.
- 4. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PLAIN ERROR IN FAILING TO PRESENT BEN WITH A COMPLETE PANEL OF JURORS BEFORE REQUIRING HIM TO MAKE STRIKES TO JURORS.
- 5. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN ALLOWING TESTIMONY OF OTIS MINGO WHERE THE PROSECUTOR DID NOT PROVIDE NOTICE OF AN INTENT TO INTRODUCE MISS.R.EVID., RULE 404(B) TESTIMONY.
- 6. THE LIFE SENTENCE IS DISPROPORTIONATE TO OTHER SENTENCES IN VIOLATION OF THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT AND THE MISSISSIPPI CONSTITUTION'S PROSCRIPTIONS **AGAINST** CRUEL **AND INHUMAN PUNISHMENT** AND/OR JURY SENTENCING WITHOUT **STANDARDS** VIOLATES THOSE AMENDMENTS AND THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSES OF BOTH CONSTITUTIONS.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### (i) Course of the Proceedings and Dispositions in the Court Below:

Cecil R. Ben was indicted on November 4, 2008, in the Circuit Court of Leake County for the forcible rape of Megan Frazier on October 3, 2007, contrary to §97-3-65(4)(a), MCA. RE 7. He was tried by jury beginning January 7, 2009, the Honorable Vernon R. Cotton, presiding. He was found guilty and sentenced to life by the jury by judgment entered on May 15, 2009. RE 5-6.

His Motion for JNOV/New Trial was overruled. R.I/51-59 RE 8-16. He timely appealed his conviction. R.I/60.

#### (ii) Statement of Facts:

On October 3, 2007, Cecil Ben was a bus driver for the Choctaw Transit Authority. Megan Frazier [hereafter Megan] was an 18-year-old student who lived on Highway 35 outside of Carthage. She rode the bus to school at East Central some miles away. Tr.I/146.

At trial, Megan testified that she was the first person picked up by Ben about 4:30 and 4:30 a.m. on the morning of Wednesday, the 3<sup>rd</sup>. On the way, Ben pulled off at the intersection of Highways 35 and 25 like he was going to go and get a patient<sup>2</sup> and stopped the bus. According to her, Ben said he was going to take a nap, unbuckled his seat belt, then came to where she was sitting and forcibly had sexual intercourse with her. Tr.II/153.

Megan testified that after he had finished, he cleaned himself off with some paper towels that he threw out the window. Tr.II/159. Like nothing had happened, he started the bus and picked up seven other middle-aged or old people before dropping Megan off at the Transit Authority where she transferred to another bus to school. Tr.II/184. She knew some of them. According to Megan, she was crying and upset, but none of the other passengers noticed and did not offer to help her; nor did she ask. She got off the bus at the Transit Authority to wait for a bus to take her on to school. Re.II/184-85.

She did not report the incident to anyone on the bus, at the Transit authority, on the next bus, or to anyone at school. Nor did she seek assistance from the school infirmary. Tr.II/187-89. She did not ask anyone to come and pick her up although she had a cell phone. She even talked to her mother on it while she was at the Transit authority station waiting for the next. Tr.II/188. She admitted that if she had told her mother, her mother would have had her cousin to get her. Tr.II/191.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> She told the police that he picked her up at 4:15 a.m. Tr.II/169. The bus was not a full-sized bus, but a smaller one. Tr.I/147.

She attended classes that day and took the bus home after school even though she did not know if Ben would be the driver. She did not call to see if he would be the driver either. Tr.II/190.

Although Ben did not drive the bus on Thursday or Friday, she continued to take the bus to and from school. Ben did not drive the bus on those two days; however, Megan had no way of knowing he would not be the driver. Tr.II/194.

Megan did not tell anyone about the alleged rape until she told her best friend, Maurice Hines on Sunday night at about 11:00 p.m. Maurice told her to tell her mother. She did, and her mother immediately reported the incident to the Choctaw Police who came out early on the morning of October 8<sup>th</sup> and interviewed Megan. Megan and her mother went with the police to the intersection where she claimed the incident had occurred and recovered **four** paper towels. Once on the scene, the Choctaw Police realized that the City of Carthage had jurisdiction, and the Carthage Police then took over the investigation that same morning. Megan turned over the unwashed clothing that she said she was wearing at the time of the alleged rape, including her shorts and panties.Tr.II/161-65.

They too interviewed Megan and sent her to the health center for an examination. Tr.II/165. Nurse Hockett testified that she interviewed Megan. No sexual rape kit was taken because the incident had allegedly occurred more than 72 hours prior to the time it was reported. According to Nurse Hockett, Megan was upset. She refused testing for STD's and pregnancy. Tr/II/166, 258-59.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In addition to transporting students to school, the bus also picked up people for their doctors' appointments or whatever.

Carthage Police subsequently turned over three, not four paper towels,<sup>3</sup> along with Megan's clothing, to the Mississippi Crime Lab where the items were examined for seminal fluid. Tr.II/234, 239. No seminal fluid was found on her shorts or panties. Tr.III/326. Seminal fluid was found on two of the paper towels. The Crime Lab then sent one of the towels to a DNA lab in Texas for DNA testing. Tr.III/306-11. At trial, Casey Dupont. who did the DNA testing at Orchid Cellmark Laboratory in Texas, testified that the DNA from the sample provided from Ben and Megan "could be included in the mixture" of DNA found on the sample. Tr.III/341.

At trial, Ben did not testify, but defended on the ground that the intercourse was consensual.

Since one of the grounds for Ben's appeal is the sufficiency of the evidence, he will discuss additional facts in his argument.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The evidence is insufficient to support the verdict or alternatively is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Ben was denied a speedy trial. The trial court made numerous evidentiary errors, including admitting out of court statements of Megan. Ben's right to a speedy trial was denied. Ben's sentence is excessive.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT OR ALTERNATIVELYL, THE JURY VERDICT IS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE, AND THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD HAVE GRANTED BEN A NEW TRIAL.

#### A. Standard of Review:

1. Sufficiency of the Evidence:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> No explanation was ever given for why one of the paper towels gathered at the intersection had vanished by the time the evidence got to the crime lab.

The due process clauses of both the state and federal constitution forbid a conviction where the reliable evidence fails to show the Defendant's guilt of each and every element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S.Const., Amends. VI and XIV; Miss.Const, Art. 3, Sections 14 and 26; *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307 (1979); *Carr v. State*, 208 So.2d 886, 889 (Miss.1968). The relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. at 315.

Should the facts and inferences considered in a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence point in favor of the defendant on any element of the offense with sufficient force that reasonable men could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was guilty, the proper remedy is for the appellate court to reverse and discharge. However, if a review of the evidence reveals that it is of such quality and weight that, having in mind the beyond a reasonable doubt burden of proof standard, reasonable fair-minded men in the exercise of impartial judgment might reach different conclusions on every element of the offense, the evidence will be deemed to have been sufficient. *Dilworth v. State*, 909 So.2d 731, 736-738 (Miss. 2005).

One Court has described the *Jackson* standard for sufficiency of the evidence as follows:

The Court of course does not mean that whenever the record supports conflicting inferences, no matter how weak, the prosecution wins, for not only would this be no more stringent than the standard of review in a civil case but also the prosecution would only fail in its proof where there was a total absence of probative evidence, which is the "no evidence" standard rejected in Jackson. If Jackson's beyond a reasonable doubt standard is to have any meaning, we must assume that when the choice between guilt and innocence from "historical" or undisputed facts reaches a certain degree of conjecture and speculation, then the defendant must be acquitted. Ulster [v. County Court v. Allen, 442 U.S. 140 (1979)] clarifies that this degree of inferential attenuation is reached at the least when the undisputed facts give equal support to inconsistent inferences. In short, we read the quoted passage from Jackson to mean that the simple fact that the evidence gives some support to the defendant does not demand acquittal. However, if the evidence fails to give support to the prosecution sufficient to

allow a reasonable juror to find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, a verdict must be directed despite the existence of conflicting inferences.

Cosby v. Jones, 682 F.2d 1373. 1383, n.21 (11th Cir. 1982).

#### 2. Weight of the Evidence:

A motion for new trial challenges the weight of the evidence. More evidence of guilt is necessary for the state to withstand a motion for a new trial, than is required to withstand a motion for JNOV.

A reversal on the grounds that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, unlike a reversal based on insufficient evidence, does not mean that acquittal was the only proper verdict. Rather, as the "thirteenth juror," the court simply disagrees with the jury's resolution of the conflicting testimony. This difference of opinion does not signify acquittal any more than a disagreement among the jurors themselves. Instead, the proper remedy is to grant a new trial. *Id.* at 737.

Although the circumstances under which this Court will disturb a jury's verdict are "exceedingly rare," such situations arise "where, from the whole circumstances, the testimony is contradictory and unreasonable, and so highly improbable that the truth of it becomes so extremely doubtful that it is repulsive to the reasoning of the ordinary mind [internal citations omitted]." *Id.* at 737. Despite this high standard, "[t]his Court has not hesitated to invoke its authority to order a new trial and allow a second jury to pass on the evidence where it considers the first jury's determination of guilt to be based on extremely weak or tenuous evidence [,] even where that evidence is sufficient to withstand a motion for a directed verdict [internal citations omitted]." *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> E.g., Feranda v. State, 267 So.2d 305 (Miss.1972); Barnes v. State, 249 So.2d 383 (Miss.1971); Cook v. State, 248 So.2d 434 (Miss.1971); Peterson v. State, 242 So.2d 420 (Miss.1970); Hux v. State, 234 So.2d 50 (Miss.1970); Quarles v. State, 199 So.2d 58 (Miss.1967); Yelverton v. State, 191 So.2d 393 (Miss.1966); Mister v. State, 190 So.2d 869 (Miss.1966); Cole v. State, 217

#### B. The Merits:

At trial, the Judge Cotton denied Ben's motion for directed verdict, peremptory instruction and motion for new trial/jnov. RE 8-16.

The testimony of a prosecutrix in a rape case should always be scrutinized with caution. *Killingsworth v. State*, 74 So.2d 221, 223 (Miss. 1979). "[W]here there is much in the facts and circumstances in evidence to discredit her testimony, another jury should be permitted to pass thereon [internal quotations marks and citation omitted]." *Johnson v. State*, 213 Miss. 808, 813, 58 So. 2d 6, 8 (Miss. 1952). *Accord, Richardson v. State*, 196 Miss. 560, 17 So.2d 799 (1944).

Stated another way, although generally corroboration is not necessary on a forcible rape charge, where the testimony is inherently contradictory or is such as to leave the mind clouded with doubt, the state must produce corroboration or the conviction cannot stand. This is not because the victim's testimony cannot stand alone, but because the law does not allow an inference of fact from evidence not substantial or probative of that fact. To trigger the "corroboration rule," the victim's testimony must be so contradictory or in conflict with physical facts, surrounding circumstances, and common experience as to be unconvincing. *State v. Keightley* 147 S.W.3d 179, 185-188 (Mo.App. S.D. 2004).

Here, Megan's testimony is contradictory, conflicts with the physical facts and surrounding circumstances and common experience. First of all, Megan did not behave like someone who had been forcibly raped. Although numerous people got on the bus after the incident, she failed to report it to them. The State called none of the people who subsequently got on the bus to testify that her behavior was unusual. She did not report the alleged rape to anyone

Miss. 779, 65 So.2d 262 (1953); Dickerson v. State,54 So.2d 925 (Miss.1951); Jefferson v. State,52 So.2d 925 (Miss.1951); Conway v. State,177 Miss. 461, 171 So. 16 (1936); Hutchins v. State, 220 So.2d 276 (Miss.1969); Brown v. State, 219 Miss. 748, 70 So.2d 23 (1954); Williams v. State, 220 Miss. 800, 72 So.2d 147 (1954); Martin v. State, 197 Miss. 96, 19 So.2d 488

at the Transit Authority, at school or to her family. She continued to ride the bus although she had no way of knowing whether Ben would be the driver. She refused STD and pregnancy testing. Her mother did not testify to any unusual behavior by Megan after the incident; nor did she corroborate Megan's testimony that she was extremely upset after it happened. She claimed to be suicidal, to have showered compulsively and stayed in her room asleep; yet, no one corroborated her claims. Tr. 198. She never sought treatment at school or through the Tribe. Tr.II/198. Megan's behavior then is contrary to common experience of how victims of forcible rape generally behave. *E.g.*, *Upton v. State*, 6 So.2d 129, 130 (Miss. 1942) [failure to report can be a factor which contradicts claim of rape].

Moreover, Megan's testimony that she struggled furiously and was held down by her attacker is contradicted by testimony from other people that she had no bruises or scratches consistent with the violent struggle she described. For example, Nurse Hockett did not observe any marks; nor did Megan draw her attention to any. Officers who took her statement noticed no injuries. Megan's clothing was not torn or damaged in any way. Tr. 326-27. *Id.* [victim had no marks consistent with violence victim said occurred during rape].

In addition, Megan's story at trial was inconsistent in material particulars with her out-of-court statements to officers and others. She testified at trial, he picked her up between 4:30 and a quarter to five, but told the police it was 4:15. Tr. 169. She testified he told her he was going to take a nap. In her report to police, he said "I want to talk to you." Exhibit D-1. She testified she did not say anything, but told police she said it was okay to take a nap. She also told them she told him to go on and pick up the others. Tr. 153, 170, Exhibit D-1. On the other hand, she told Nurse Sharon Hockett that he told her that it would not matter if she screamed or cried, that he was going to do this and you're probably going to like what I do to you anyway. Tr. 266. She

<sup>(1944);</sup> Jolly v. State, 174 So. 244 (Miss. 1937); Holifield v. State, 132 Miss. 446, 96 So. 306

testified she "pushed and pushed him" on the chest with both hands and "kicked and hollered." She later admitted, however, that her arms were pinned. Tr. 153, 181. She testified she hit him once. Tr. 154.

According to her Ben had her pinned down against the seat with one arm behind her and was holding her other arm, but simultaneously he was standing while pulling down her pants and underwear. Later she said he had one leg over her while pulling off her underwear. Tr. 155, In her statement to police, he was on top of her when he pulled down her pants and underwear. Tr. 174-76, Exhibit D-1. She testified she was "constantly" fighting him. On the other hand, she said that he had her hands pinned down. Tr. 156. She did not tell police about her arms being pinned down when she gave her report. Tr. 196. She testified she kicked Ben once, but then later said she was "steady kicking" him. Tr. 174, 182. Much of the detail in her trial testimony was not in her report to police. Exhibit D-1.

Megan first testified she did not call anyone to come pick her up at the Transit Authority because she had no one who would pick her up. Then she admitted her cousin would have come. Tr. 191. Furthermore, Maurice Hines, her good friend to whom she first reported the incident, testified that he was not in school or working at the time. He had a car and would have picked her up had she called. Tr. 219. She had a cell phone and even talked to her mother at the Transit Center but did not tell her mother anything about being raped. Tr. 188.

In summary, Megan's testimony was internally inconsistent and inconsistent with her statements and in some respects physically impossible--especially her descriptions of how he removed her panties while standing and simultaneously standing up with one leg over her body while holding her down. While some inconsistencies are certainly to expected, the problem here

<sup>(1923);</sup> Bolden v. State, 98 Miss. 723, 54 So. 241 (1910).

is that the inconsistencies go to the heart of whether Ben in fact used physical force. In other words, Megan's inability to consistently recount how she was held and how her clothing was forcibly removed are ones which would be expected if force was not used.

The trial court in ruling on Ben's motion for new trial, however, ignored the substantial contradictions in Megan's testimony. Instead, the court found that her testimony was corroborated by the following:

- 1. The presence of DNA on the paper towels which was "consistent" with both victims on the paper towels pointed out by Megan to the police;
- 2. Testimony of Otis Mingo, a dispatcher at Choctaw Transit Authority who heard been remark upon seeing Megan that "that would be some good stuff;"
- 3. Megan's testimony of confusion, showers, testimony of Maurice Hinds. RE 13-15.

The problem with the trial judge's analysis; however, is that although this evidence may corroborate the fact of sexual intercourse, it in no way corroborates that the intercourse was forcible. Where corroboration of a prosecutrix' testimony is required, as here, when her testimony is otherwise contradicted, the "corroboration must be, not merely of incidental details, but of the commission of the prohibited act." *Yancy v. State,* 202 Miss. 662, 668, 32 So.2d 151, 152 (1947). In other words, there must be some evidence not only that intercourse occurred, but that the intercourse in fact occurred without the prosecutrix' consent.

In Gillis v. State, 152 Miss. 551, 120 So. 455 (1929), the Court held that the corroboration must be of the main elements of the crime—"[t]he secret part of the crime—that element which, in the nature of things, in a great majority of cases, no one else than the guilty

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Nurse Hockett testified that it would be "medically impossible" that her panties would not have contained seminal fluid residue if there were no panty shield and that her panties and clothing would likely be torn. Tr. 271. She noticed no bruises or lacerations on Megan. Tr. 269-270.

parties would know anything about—is the element as to which she must be corroborated. . . [citation omitted]." *Accord, Howard v. State*, 417 So.2d 932, 933 (Miss. 1982) [birth of baby and access to prosecutrix insufficient]; *Grogan v. State*, 118 So. 627, 627 (Miss. 1928) [testimony that the two people were alone is insufficient corroboration].

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