IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CECIL R. BEN APPELLANT

VS. NO. 2009-CA-1495-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

ЛМ HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: W. GLENN WATTS

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

In **Sherrell v. State** 622 So.2d 1233, 1237 (Miss. 1993), the Court found a murder victim's statement to the owner of a store was admissible under 803(3) to show her state of mind with regard to her fear of Sherrell. He was someone with whom she was living. She expressed the dilemma she faced at the time of the statement.

She was scared that Sherrell might kill her but she was also afraid of asking him to leave her trailer. Sherrell's contention was that the victim had been giving him things to pawn at the time of her death. Deputy Vick testified that Sherrell told him the victim gave him things, such as a diamond ring, to pawn so he would have money to return to the Gulf Coast.

ring, to pawn so he would have money to return to the Gulf Coast.

Boone's statement to Brock that she intended to ask Sherrell to leave is admissible under Miss. R. Evid. 803(3) because it responds to Sherrell's contention that Boone gave him things to pawn. Boone was frightened for her life by the person whom she was sharing a trailer. Although she was scared to return with Sherrell there, she was just as scared to ask him to leave. Therefore, Brock's testimony as to Boone's state of mind was both relevant and admissible under Miss. R. Evid. 803(3).

The record reflects that M.F.'s statement to the Choctaw nurse was clearly admissible under M. R. E. 803(4). The record reflects it was made within hours of the statement to Mr. Hines. The nurse corroborated Mr. Hines as to M.F.'s emotional condition. She was crying and upset to the point of feeling like she was going "to throw up." R. 259.

Ms. Sharon Hockett, R.N., testified that she was a registered nurse. She worked at the Choctaw Health Department. She had received training for sexual assault cases. On October 8, 2007, M. F. was brought to see her about an alleged sexual assault. She was with her mother. She testified that M.F. was "upset, crying and frightened. "R. 258.

Q. Okay. I believe you said that it was obvious she was crying and was—was she also kind of sick or anything?

A. She stated that she felt like she was going to throw up. R. 259. (Emphasis by appellee).

She told Hockett she had been sexually assaulted and raped by Ben on a school bus. Hockett collected a sample of her blood for later forensic analysis results. R. 267.

There was no objection to Hocket's testifying that she found no basis for her to conclude that M. F. was not telling the truth. This was based upon her questioning of the still emotionally disturbed M. F.

Q. Can you tell us how she told you what was wrong with her?

A. She stated that she was in the transportation bus and that the driver, and she named the name.

Q. And who was that?

A. Cecil Ben. Had pulled over into a side road in Carthage and told her that it would not matter if she screamed or cried, that he was going to do this, and then she told me that he stated to her, and you're probably gonna like what I do to you, anyway.

- Q. Did she indicate to you that he forcibly had sex with her?
- A. That is what she indicated, yes. R. 266.
- Q. At the time you talked to Megan Frazier, Nurse Hackett, was it your concern to take care of the immediate problem she was having emotionally?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Now, was there anything indicating to you that she wasn't telling the truth?
- A. There was nothing to indicate that she was not telling the truth. R. 274. (Emphasis by appellee).

In Marshall v. State, 812 So.2d 1068, 1074 -1075 (¶18) (Miss. App. 2001), the Court found statements made for the purposes of medical treatment were admissible under M. R.E. 803(4).

¶18. We find that the testimony of Beavers, Blount and Chidester falls safely under the medical diagnosis exception to the hearsay rule. That exception provides that a "declarant's motive in making the statement must be consistent with the purposes of promoting treatment; and ... the content of the statement must be such as is reasonably relied on by a physician in treatment." M.R.E. 803(4). See Doe, 644 So.2d at 1206; Jones v. State, 606 So.2d 1051, 1056 (Miss.1992). "[A] statement that one has been sexually abused, as well as any identification of the perpetrator, is reasonably pertinent to treatment and, therefore, reasonably relied upon by a treating physician." Hennington, 702 So.2d at 413. See Mitchell v. State, 539 So.2d 1366 (Miss.1989). This rule was expanded to include identification of any acquaintance of the victim or any person to come into contact with the victim, not just a household member or relative. Hennington, 702 So.2d at 413-14; Eakes, 665 So.2d at 866-67. "Prevention of further abuse will always be an immediate concern, whether the perpetrator has daily, weekly, or only sporadic opportunity to abuse a child." Hennington, 702 So.2d at 414 (quoting Eakes, 665 So.2d at 867).

The record reflects that M.F.'s statements to Nurse Hockett was clearly admissible under M.

R. E. 803(4) Statements for Purposes of Medical Diagnosis or Treatment.

While the court did find admission of statements under 803(3) inadmissible in **Edwards v. State**, 856 So. 2d 587, 593-593 (¶16) (Miss App. 2003), relied upon by Ben, it also found it was "harmless error."

In that case, there was overwhelming evidence of guilt including Edwards admissions in a confession. In the case subjudice there was positive identification of Ben as the person who forced himself upon M. F. R. 149. She was corroborated by the finding of forensically testable evidence at the place she indicated the rape had occurred. And she was corroborated by the testimony of both Mr. Hines, and Nurse Hockett as to her being emotionally disturbed, to the point of wanting "to throw up." R. 259. This is not what one would expect if M.F. had agreed to have sex with on older man on a dark bus along an intersection to two highways.

There was no objection to the nurse's testimony about "nothing to indicate that she was not telling the truth." R.274. The issue was therefore waived. **Russell v. State**, 607 So. 2d 1107, 1117 (Miss. 1993).

These evidentiary issues are also lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION IV

THIS ISSUE WAS WAIVED AS WELL AS LACKING IN MERIT.

Mr. Ben argues that it was plain error to have not presented him with a complete panel of

jurors before requiring him to make peremptory strikes on the proposed jurors. Ben acknowledges

there was no objection made during jury selection or at trial. He also complains that he was

prejudiced because the state selected jurors that had allegedly already served on previous juries.

Therefore, he argues that this was allegedly "plain error." Appellant's brief page 21-22.

The record reflects this issue was waived for failure to make "a contemporaneous

objection".

In Wardley v. State, 760 So.2d 774, 777 (Miss. App. 1999), the Court relied upon Smith

v. State, infra. If a party does not object to the composition of the jury prior to it being sworn in

then the issue is waived on appeal.

Wardley made no objection at trial to any of the State's peremptory strikes, and never asked that the State articulate race-neutral reasons for those strikes, nor did he object

to the final composition of the jury. A party waives any and all claims regarding the composition of his jury if he fails to raise an objection before the jury is sworn.

Smith v. State, 724 So.2d 280, 330 (Miss. 1998).

In addition, it would appear to the appellee that there was nothing inappropriate about the

selection of the jury that resulted in prejudice to Ben.

The record reflects that the prosecution had accepted twelve jurors prior to tendering them

to the defense.

Kilgore: Twelve strikes, is that right?

Court: That's right. This is a capital case.

Kilgore: Your Honor, we'll accept those twelve.

The court: All right. What does the defendant say to the twelve that have been

27

accepted? R. 124. (Emphasis by appellee).

In addition, the record indicates that a juror who had served previously was a Mr. Jason Johnston. Johnston was excused from serving on the jury. It was discovered that he was a prior felony. R. 343; 353; 442. The record reflects that the first alternate juror, Ms. Tonya Stribling, took his place on the jury, and participated in jury deliberations. The record also reflects that the jury were informed of this change, and that they should continue following the instructions of the court. R. 351. This was prior to the beginning of their deliberations. R. 430-431.

In **Bell v. State**, 631 So. 2d 817, 820 (Miss. 1994), this Court stated that there is a presumption that jurors follow the trial court's admonition.

This Court has held that it must be presumed that the jurors followed the court's admonition to disregard the unanticipated, unprovoked incident and decide the case solely upon the evidence presented; to presume otherwise would be to render the jury system inoperable. See **Wright v. State**, 540 So. 2d 1, 4 (Miss. 1982); **Hunt v. State**, 538 So. 2d 422, 426 (Miss. 1989).

In **Morgan v. State**, 793 So.2d 615, 617 (Miss. 2001), the Supreme court found that unless there were errors so egregious as to result in a fundamental miscarriage of justice they would not be considered "plain error."

¶ 9. The plain error rule is codified in Miss. R. Evid. 103(d). It provides that nothing precludes the Court from taking notice of plain errors affecting the substantial rights of a defendant, even though they were not brought to the attention of the trial court. If a party persuades the court of the substantial injustice that would occur if the rule were not invoked, the court may invoke the rule. See Edwards v. Sears, Roebuck & Co., 512 F.2d 276 (5th Cir.1975). "Only an error so fundamental that it generates a miscarriage of justice rises to the level of plain error," however. Gray v. State, 549 So.2d 1316, 1321 (Miss.1989); Kuehne & Nagel (AG & Co.) v. Geosource, Inc., 874 F.2d 283, 292 (5th Cir.1989).

In Wiley v State, 842 So. 2d 1280, 1285 (¶17) (Miss. 2003), the Supreme Court found that Wiley had previously raised ineffective assistance. He had no new evidence that he could not have been raised in his previous filing. Therefore, he failed to met his burden for showing any ineffective assistance of counsel.

The record reflects that this issue was waived. It is also lacking in merit. There is no evidence indicating that Ben's right to a fair and impartial jury was violated during jury selection or at any other time during his trial.

This issue is also lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION V

TESTIMONY FROM MR. OTIS MINGO WAS RECEIVED AS AN ADMISSION AGAINST INTEREST. ISSUES RELATED TO DISCOVERY WERE WAIVED WHERE THERE WAS NO REQUEST FOR A CONTINUANCE.

Mr. Ben argues that the trial court erred in admitting testimony from Otis Mingo. He believes that even if Ben's statement to Mingo was admissible under M. R. Evidence 404(b), it was still not admissible at trial. It was not admissible because Ben allegedly had not had a prior opportunity to review his actual statement and no continuance was granted him to do so. Appellant's brief page 22-24.

The record reflects that the objection to the testimony of Otis Mingo came only after Mingo had already testified that Ben said something to him about M. F. in his presence. He testified that when the statement was made M.F. had her "legs propped in the air." The record also clearly indicates there was neither a request for a "continuance" or a "mistrial." See UCCCR, Rule 9.04. R. 281-287.

Q. Can you tell us what Megan was doing and what Cecil was doing?

A. No, I didn't know what—I don't know that Megan was doing. Cecil come up to me and made a statement that she had her legs propped in the air—

Lane: Your Honor, at this time, we would object. R. 279. (Emphasis by appellee).

The record reflects that Ben's counsel objected originally to Mingo's testimony on grounds of "really relevancy" and M. R. E. 404(B). R. 281. After hearing this objection and argument, the trial court found that Ben's statement to Mr. Mingo would be admissible as an "admission against interest." M. R. E. 804(b)(3). R. 287.

In addition, counsel for Ben admitted that he knew that Mingo was going to be a witness for the prosecution for "at least a week and a half ago." R. 287. While he claimed that discovery as to

the substance of his testimony was lost or misplaced, he admitted that he had not attempted to interview Mr. Mingo prior to trial.

He also argued before the trial court that any statement by Ben about M.F. to another short of a declared intention to actually commit an anticipated rape would fall short of showing motive or intent to commit the alleged future rape under M. R.E. 404(b). R. 285.

The record also reflects that Ben's counsel never claimed "undue prejudice or unfair prejudice," or asked for "a continuance or a mistrial." He had ample opportunity to do so. R. 279-292. See UCCCR rule 9. 04.

In **McGilberry v. State**, 741 So. 2d 894, 918 (Miss. 1999), the court found that it would not hold a trial court in error where it was not given an opportunity to make a ruling.

Absent a request for a continuance, we are unwilling to hold the trial court in error where it was not given an opportunity to make a ruling. Fleming v. State, 604 So.2d 280, 293 (Miss.1992). When told that the State would direct Dr. Maggio to be forthright with him, defense counsel responded, "Thank you. That's all I request." McGilberry's argument that the State committed a discovery violation, while technically correct, is unfounded due to the discussions of the defense and the propounding of Dr. Deal's report on the eve of trial.

The record also reflects that Mingo was cross examined thoroughly about the remark more than once. In other words, the remark, "that stuff looks good" which allegedly prejudiced him was repeated by Ben's counsel in his questioning of Mingo. R. 297.

Mr. Mingo was questioned about why he took offense at such a statement. He was questioned about when the statement was made, and to whom it was reported. The question implied that Mingo's taking offense was more of a personal peculiarity rather than a professional matter.

Q. But you took personal offense to his comment, allegedly that he said that stuff looks good?

A. I did, 'cause it wasn't right.

Q. It wasn't right because you don't ever do anything like that?

A. Nope. But I'm not the one on trial. R. 299. (Emphasis by appellee).

On redirect, the prosecution clarified Otis's testimony. Otis explained that he took the remark seriously enough to report it to his supervisor. In other words, Otis' reaction was not just his personal reaction. He viewed it as serious enough to take professional action in his capacity as dispatcher for Choctaw Transit Authority. He also explained that after the alleged rape occurred on Wednesday, Ben "didn't drive ...Megan's route, or Monday." R. 304.

Q. Mr. Mingo, when Ben said what he said to you, you took it serious enough and were offended enough, you reported it to his supervisor?

A. **Yes, I did.** (Emphasis by appellee).

In **Fielder v. State**, 235 Miss. 44l, 108 So. 2d 590 (1959), the Supreme Court held that cross examining a witness on the matter complained of as prejudicial waived the issue on appeal.

Appellant made only one objection to the first of a number of questions about this. However, appellant's counsel cross examined Hosey about what the boys said and this waived the objections.

The appellee would submit that this issue is lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION VI

BEN'S SENTENCE WAS WITHIN THE STATUTORY GUIDELINES FOR HIS CONVICTION.

Ben argues that his sentence was cruel and unusual as well as disproportionate when compared to the sentences given for others convicted of the same offense. He believes this was particularly true since the jury determined his sentence without any consideration of mitigating factors, such as the fact that Ben had no prior felonies, and M.F. was not a child victim. Appellant's brief page 24-25.

In **Ivory v. State**, 840 So.2d 755, 758 -759 (Miss. App. 2003), the Court pointed out that failure to raise "the unconstitutionality" of a sentence prior to its imposition waived the issue on appeal.

The State points out, however, that Ivory failed to object to his sentence either at the time the sentence was imposed or in his post-trial motion. If the appellant did not present to the trial court the proposition that his sentence was unconstitutional, he may not assert that allegation on appeal, and it is procedurally barred. **Reed v. State**, 536 So.2d 1336, 1339 (Miss.1988)

The record reflects that the issue raised with the trial court was that the sentence was excessive for the offense committed. R. 471. The prosecution pointed out that in this case it was not the judge who determined the sentence but rather the jury. The jury not only found Ben guilty of rape, they also chose to give him a life sentence. R. 437-438. Therefore, the trial court did not have discretion as to the sentence. The court merely imposed the sentence as found by the jury in their deliberations.

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